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This financial report includes separate financial statements for QBE Lenders' Mortgage lnsurance Limited (the
Company) as an individual entity.

QBE Lenders' Mortgage lnsurance Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in
Australia. lts registered oflice and principal place of business is:

Level 27, 8-12 Chifley Square
Sydney NSW2000
Australia

A description of the nature of the Company's operations and its principal activities is included in the directors'
report on pages 1 to 3, which is not part of the financial report.

The financial report was authotised for issue by the directors on 12 February 2Q21.'fhe directors have the power
to amend and reissue the financial report.



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 202CI

Your directors present their report on QBE Lenders' Mortgage lnsurance Limited (the Company) as at 31

December 2020 and for the year then ended.

Directors

The following directors held office during the financial year and up to the date of this report:

K A Bailey-Lord
V K Bhatia (resigned on 3 September 2020)
F Costigan (appointed on 3 September 2020)
D T Curran (appointed on 13 August 2020)
C J Esson (appointed on 4 November 20201
G J Gilbert
M Joiner
C Killourhy (resigned on 4 November 202A1
M Long
HPNoft
P J Vrlhite

M V R \Mllis (appointed on 13 August 2020)

Resulte and revisw of operatlons

The results of the Company for lhe year were as follows:

2A2A 2079
$M$u

Gross written premium
Gross earned premium
Net earned premium

238.7
243.9
1A1.2

218.3
254.8
137.3

Net claims expense
Net commission revenue
Undenrriting and other expenses

(87.r)
40.6

(50.41

(45.s)
30.4

(56.4)

Underwriting result
Net investment income on policyholders'funds

4.3
3.5

65.4
16.7

lnsurance profit
Net investment income on shareholde/s funds

7.8
13.0

82.'l
38.6

Profit before income tax
lncome tax expense

20.8
(4.4)

120.7
(34.3)

Profit after income tax 16.4 86.4

The increase in Gross Written Premium in 2020 principally reflects improved consumer demand for home loans in
the historically low interest rate environment. Recent stimulus measures including eased mortgage serviceability,
government grants and home loan interest rate cuts along with improving property prices have crealed some uplift
in property market activity, with buyers returning to lhe market and application levels at two-year highs. The outlook
for the Australian lending market remains positive.

During the year, as required by accounting standards, the Company reviewed the expected pattern of risk
emergence over the life of its portfolio to reflect updated claims experience. For 202O, the review did not lead to
any additional release or deferral of previously deferred income or expenditure.

Reduced gross earned premium in 2020 is due to lower earnings from policies wriften in prior underwriting years.

Net earned premium in ?OZA is further impacted by higher reinsurance costs as a result of additional quota share
reinsurance in the year.

The reduction in profit before lax was influenced by reduced investment income from historically low interest rates,
realised losses on the sale of assets, and provisions related to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2O2A

Controlllng entities

The entity is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The parent entig is QBE
Holdings (AAP) Pty Limited (QBE AAP), incorporated in Australia, and the ultimate parent entity is QBE lnsurance
Group Limited (QBE Group), incorporated in Australia.

The parent entity's registered office is at Level 27,8-12 Ghifley Square, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia.

Employee numbers

At the reporting date,.the Company employed nil persons (2019: nil).

A related entity, QBE Management Services Pty Limited (QMS), is the employer of most of the QBE Group
employees residing in Australia. As such, it is responsible for their salary and wage payments and employer
superannuation contributions. QMS charges a management fee to the Company in order to recover employee
costs.

Another related entity, QBE lnsurance (Australia) Limited (QlA) New Zealand branch, performs a similar role in
respect of all persons engaged in the activities of the Company residing in New Tealand.

Dlvldends

Dividends paid or proposed during the year totalled $177 .4 million (2019; $1 13.0 million).

The directors did not declare a final dividend prior to the end of the year for the financial year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: nil).

Activities

The principal activi$ of the Company continued to be undenrriting of residential lenders' mortgage insurance.
There were no signilicant changes to the principal activig during the year.

Presentatlon currency

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars because the majorig of its underwriting activity is
denominated in Australian dollars.

Directors' and oflicers' insurance

During the year, a related Company paid insurance premiums in respect of a contract insuring directors and officers
of the Company. The officers of the Company covered by the insurance contract include the directors listed on
page 1 and the Company secretaries, P Smiles and T Virgara. ln accordance with normal commercial practice,
disclosure of the total amount of premium payable under, and the nature of liabilities covered by, the insurance
contract is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in the contraet.

No such insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of any external auditor of the Company.

Options

There were no options granted by the Company during the year (201g: nil).

Significant changes

There were no significant changes to the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year.

Llkely developments

lnformation on likely developments in the Company's operations in future financialyears and the expected results
of those operations has not been included in this report because disclosure of the information would be likely to
result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

However, the operating environment remains highly uncertain as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
associated economic impacts-
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSUMNCE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Events after balance date

There is, at the date of this report, no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 December 2020 that,
in the opinion of the directors, has significantly affected or may significantly affect the Company's operations, the
results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial periods.

Directors' benefits

No director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than a remuneration benefit)
by reason of a contract made or proposed by the Company or a related entity with a director or with a lirm of which
the direetor is a member or with an entig in which the director has a substantialfinancial interest.

Environmental regulatlon

The Company is not currenlly required to report under any significant environmental regulations under either
Commonwealth, State or Territory legislation.

Auditor

PricewaterhouseGoopers, Chartered Accountants, continue in office in accordance with Section 3278 of the

Corporations Act 2001.

A copy of the audito/s independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is
set out on page 4.

Rounding of amounts

The Company is of a kind relerred to in the ASIC Corporations (Rounding in FinanciaADirectors' Repods)
tnstrument 201Ul91. Amounts have been rounded off in the Directors'report to the nearest one hundred thousand
dollars or, in cerlain cases, to lhe nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that instrument.

Signed in SYDNEY this 12rh day of February 2021 in accordance with a resolution of directors.

Director...

Director

cl+^ts E f(o^)
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Audttor's Indep endence D eclqr ati.on

As lead auditor for the audit of QBE Lenders' Mortgage Insurance Limited for the year ended 3r December
2ozo,I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a) no contraventions ofthe auditor independence requirements ofthe Corporations Act zoor in relation to
the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

ow
Christopher Verhaeghe
Partner
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Sydney
rz February zozr

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN gz 78o 4Sg 757
One InternationalTowers Sydney,Watermans Quag, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW zoot
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999, wwwpwc.com.ou
Leuel tt, IPSQ, t6g Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW 2r7o, PO Box tt55 Parramatta NSW ztz4
T: +6t z 9659 2476, F: +6t z 8266 9999,1Dww.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 4
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INGOME
For the year ended 31 December 202A

NOTE
2020 2019

$u$lttt

Gross written premium 238.7
5.2

218.3
36.5Unearned movement

Gross
Outward reinsurance premium
Deferred reinsurance premium movement

2.1 243.9 254.8

{178.0)
35.3

(148.2)
30.7

Outward reinsurance premium expense t142.71 (117.5)

Net eamed premium (a) 101.2 137.3
Gross claims incuned
Reinsurance and other recoveries

2.2
2.2

{180.71
93.6

(e6.6)
50.7

Net claims expense (b) (87.11 (45.e)
Gross commission expense
Reinsurance commission revenue 2,1

(0.e1

41.5
(2.0)
32.4

Net commission revenue (cl 40.6 30.4
Underwritinq and other exoenses (d) {50.4} (56.4)

Underwriting result (a)+(b)+(cf+(d)
lnvestment income - policyholders' funds
lnveslment expenses - oolicvholders' funds

4.3
3.8

(0.3)

65.4
17.1
(0.4)

lnsurance profit
lnvestment income - shareholdefs funds
lnveslment expenses - shareholder's funds

7.8
13.7
(0.71

82.1
39.3
(0,7)

Profit before income tax
lncome tax expense 6.1

20.8

14.41

120.7
(34.3)

Profit after income tax 16.4 86.4
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Net movement in foreign cunencv translation reserve
Other comprehensive income after income tax
Total comprehensive income after income tax 16.4 86.4
Profit after income tax attributable to:

16.4 86.4

Total compreheneive income after income tax attributable to:
Ordi holder of the 16.4

6.4
86.4
86.4

The statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2419
NOTE $M$ltt

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
lnvestments
Trade and other receivables
Deferred insurance costs
Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims
Deferred tax assets
lnvestments in controlled entities

5.1
3.2
2.6
2.5
2.3
6.2
7.1

21.4
1,054.5

121.1
333.4
{35.3

2.5
73.5

10.3
1,225.6

96.9
303.0

79.5
1.7

73.5
Total assets 1,741.7 1,790_5
Llabilities
Trade and other payables
Outstanding claims
Unearned premium
Unearned reinsurance commission

2.7
2.3
2,s
2.5

72.1
304.4
533.5

77.3

76.8
'192.1

538.7
67.5

Total liabilities 987.3 875.1
Net assets 764.4 915.4
Equity
Share capital
Reserves

5.2.1
5.2.2

364.3
0.5

389.6

364.3
0.5

550.6Retained
Totalequity 7il.4 5.4

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

7



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

SHARE
GAPITAL RESERVES

RETAINED
PROFITS

TOTAL
EQUITY

915.4

2020 NOTE
1 0.5 550.6

after income tax 16.4 16.4

fl
Transactions with owners in thelr
capacity as owners:
Dividends oaid on ordinarv shares s.3 1177 Al n77.41
At 31 December 364.3 0.5 389.6 754.4

2019 NOTE

SHARE
CAPITAL RESERVES

$M $M

RETAINED
PROFITS

$M

TOTAL
EQUITY

$M
364.3 0.5 577.2 942.0

income tax 86.4 86.4
Other comorehensive income
Totalcomprehensive income 86.4 96.4
Transactions with o$rners in their
capacity as ownenr:
Dividends paid on ordinarv shares 5.3 - - (113.0) (113.0)
At 31 December 364.9 0.S 550.6 915.4

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

1
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For lhe year ended 31 December 2020

NOTE
2024 2019

$M$M
Operating activities
Premiums received
Reinsurance and other recoveries received
Reinsurance commissions received
Outward reinsurance paid
Claims paid
lnsurance costs paid
Other undenrrrriting costs paid
lnterest and dividends received
lncome taxes paid

261.5
38.0
45.7

1187.21
(70.0)
(12.31

{40.5}
28.7

(18.5)

235.7
41.9
39.6

(156.0)
(73.4)
(22.7',,

(4e.3)
32.5

(37.6)
Net cash flows from operating activities 8.3 45'4 14.7
lnvestlng actlvltles
Proceeds from sale of fixed interest investments
Purchase of fixed interest investments
Net payments to related entities
Dividends received from controlled entity

932.1
(e52.0)

{'re.8)
6.1

754.2
(721.2J

{54.z',)
9.3

Net cash flows from investinq activities (33.6) (11.e)

Financing activities
Dividends
Net caslr activities
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents

5.3

11.t
10.3

1.8
8.5Cash and cash ivalents at the tnn of the

Cash and cash at the end of the 5,1

The statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

21.4 10.3
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEIUENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2O2O

t. ovERvtEw

1.1 About lhe Company

About QBE Lenderc' Mortgage lnsurance Limited

QBE Lenders' Mortgage lnsurance Limited (the Company) is a residential lenders' mortgage insurance company,
underwriting business in Australia and New Zealand.

About ingurance

ln simple terms, insurance and reinsurance companies help their cuslomers (consumers, businesses and other
insurance companies) to manage risk. More broadly put, insurance companies create value by pooling and
redistributing risk. This is done by collecting premium from those that it insures (that is policyholders) and then
paying the claims of those that call upon their insurance protection. The Company may also choose to reduce
some of ils own accumulated risk through the use of outward reinsurance, which is insurance for insurance
companies. As not all policyholders willactually experience a claims event, the effective pooling and redistribution
of risk lowers the total cost of risk management, thereby making insurance protection more cost effective for atl.

The operating model of insurance companies relies on profits being generated:

. by appropriately pricing risk and charging adequate premium to cover the expected payouts that will be incuned
over the life of the insurance policy (both claims and operating expenses); and

. by earning a return on the collected premium and funds withheld to pay future claims through the adoption of
an appropriate investment strategy.

lnsurance therefore serves a criticalfunction of providing customers with the confidence to achieve their business
and personal goals through cost effective risk management. This is achieved within a highly regulated
environment, designed to ensure that insurance companies maintain adequate capital to protect the interests of
policyholders.

1.2 About this report

This financial report includes the financial statements of QBE Lenders' Mortgage lnsurance Limited. The parent
entity is QBE Holdings (AAP) P$ Limited (QBE AAP), incorporated in Australia, and the ultimate parent entity is
QBE lnsurance Group Limited (QBE Group), incorporated in Australia.

The financial report includes the four primary statements, namely the statement of comprehensive income (which
comprises profit or loss and other comprehensive income), balance sheet, statement of changes in equig and
statement of cash flows, as well as associaled notes as required by Auslralian Accounting Standards. Disclosures
have been grouped into the following categories in order lo assist users in their understanding of our financial
statements:

1. Overview contains information that impacls the financial reporl as a whole.

2. Underwriting activities brings together all results and balance sheet disclosures relevant to the Company's
insurance activities.

3. lnvestment activities includes all results and balance sheet disclosures relevant to the Gompany's
investments.

4. Rlsk management provides commentary on the Company's exposure to various financial and capital risks,
explaining lhe potential impact on the results and balance sheet and how the Company manages these risks.

5. Capital structure provides information about the cash and equity components of the Company's capital.

6. Tax includes disclosures in relation to the Company's tax balances.

7. Company structure provides a summary of lhe Company's structure and any changes therein.

8. Other includes disclosures required in order to comply with Australian Accounting Standards.

10



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Forthe yearended 31 December202O

\Mrere applicable within each note, disclosures are further analysed as follows:

. Overvlew provides some context to assist users in understanding the disclosures.

. Disclosures (both numbers and commentary) provides analysis of balances as required by Australian
Accounting Standards.

r Houv we accounl for the numbers summarises the accounting policies relevant to an understanding of the
numbers.

. Critical accounting ludgaments and estlmates explains the key estimates and judgements applied by

management in determining the numbers.

The notes include information which the directors believe is required to understand the financial statements and
is material and relevant to the operations, balance sheet and results of the Company. lnformation is considered
material and relevant if:

o the amount in question is significant because of its size or nature;
r it is important to assist in understanding the results of the Company;
o it help$ to explain the impact of significant changes in the Company's business; or
. it relales to an aspect of the Company's operations that is important to its future performance.

1.2.1 Basis of preparatlon

This financial report is a general purpose linancial report which:

. has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and lnterpretations as issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), lnlernational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued
by the lnternational Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the Corporations Act 2001;

r has been prepared on a historical cost basis as modified by certain exceptions, the most significant of which
are the measurement of investments at fair value and the measurement of the net outstanding claims liabili$
at present value;

. is presented in Australian dollars: and

. is presented with values rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand dollars or, in certain cases, to the
nearest thousand dollars in accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors' Reports)
lnstrument 2016/191.

The Company is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

lA/trere appropriate, prior period comparatives have been reclassified in this financial report to ensure comparability
in the current reporting period. The reclassiftcalion was necessary to provide lhe readers of the financial report
with a greater understanding of the Company's notes to the financial statements.

New and amended Accounting Standards and lnterpretations issued by the AASB that are now effective are
detailed in note 8.1.

The Company has not adopted any Accounting Standards and lnterpretations that have been issued or amended
but are not yet effective.

These financial statements are separate financial statements and the Company is exempt from preparing
consolidated financial statements under AASB1A Consolidated Financial Stafemenfs. The ultimate parent
Company, QBE Group produces consolidated financial statements in accordance with MSB and IFRS for public
use, which can be obtained at www.qbe.com or Level 27 ,8-'12 Chifley Square, Sydney, NSW 2000, Australia.
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Forthe yearended 31 December2020

1.2.2 Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Company's financial statements requires management to make.iudgements and estimates
that affect reported amounts.

QBE Group has developed a centralised risk management and policy framework, designed to ensure consistency
of approach across a number of operational activities. The Company adopts these, subject to the specific
requirements of local markets, legislation and regulation. Such operational activities include undenuriting, claims
management, actuarial assessment of the outstanding claims liability and investment management.

Sensitivity analyses in respect of critical accounting estimates and judgemenls are presented in order to provide
information and analysis which is meaningful, relevant, reliable and comparable year on year.

The key areas in which critical estimates and judgements are applied are as follows:

r net outstanding claims liability (note 2.3);
r unearned premium and deferred insurance costs (note 2.5);
r liabilig adequacy test (note 2.5.11;
. impairment of receivables (note 2.61; and
. recoverabilig of defened tax assets (note 6.2)

covlD-l9

COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organisation in March 2020. The virus itsell as well as
measures to slow its spread, have had a significant impact on the global economy. The Company has considered
a broad range of fiactors lo inform an assessment of the impact of the resulting uncertainty and general market
volatility on the financial statements.

\Mtile the areas of critical accounting judgements and estimates did not materially change from last year, the
impact of COVID-19 resulted in the application of further judgement within those identified areas. Given lhe
evolving and uncertain impact of COVID-19, we anticipate that there will be changes in market conditions in lhe
future and that the impact of these changes will be accounted for in future reporting periods as they arise and/or
are able to be reasonably predicted.

The significant accounting estimates impacted by these associated unce(ainties are predominantly related to the
valuation of the outstanding claims, risk margin, the liability adequacy test, and earning patterns. The impact of
the COVID-l9 pandemic on each of the signiftcant accounting eslimates are discussed further below.

. Net discounted central estimate (note 2.3|:

COVID-I9 has caused a material increase in the net discounted central estimate despite the low number of claims
notifted and uncertain economic conditions. Vrltrilst this estimate has been based on a detailed review of the
exposures, significant uncertain$ remains around potentialclaims emergence.

The company will continue to monitor market developments closely, to ensure that the net discounted central
estimate is reflective of the best estimate of expected future claims.

. Risk margin (note 2.3.3f :

The company aims to maintain a probability of adequacy in excess ol 85olo, reflecting the level of uncedainty in
the net discounted central estimate. ln response to the significantly heightened level of uncertainty created by
COVID-19 claims as described above, the company has increased the risk margin which resulted in a probabilig
of adequacy at the balance date of 87.5o1o.

. Liabllity adequacy test (note 2.5.1):

This assessment is informed by the expeclation of future net claims including a risk margin and is therefore subject
to the same uncertainties summarised above. Future claims assumptions used in the liability adequacy test have
been prepared on a basis that is consistent with the COVID-19 assumptions informing the determination of the net
discou nted central estimate.

12



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1,2,3 Foreign currency

Translation of foreign currency transactions and balances

Transactions included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). Foreign currency transactions are translated
into functional currencies at the spot rates of exchange applicable at the dates of the transactions. At the balance
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates of exchange
prevailing at that date. Resulting exchange gains and losses are included in profit or loss.

Translation of foreign operationa

The results and balance sheets of all foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the
Company's presentation currency of Australian dollars are translated into Australian dollars as follows:

r income, expenses and other current period movements in comprehensive income are lranslated at average
rates ofexchange; and

r balance sheet items are translated at the closing balance date rates of exchange.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign operalions are taken to shareholde/s
equity and recognised in othercomprehensive income. \Men aforeign operation is sold in whole or part and
capital is repatriated, exchange differences on tlanslation from the entity's functional currency to lhe parent entity's
functional currency of Australian dollars are reclassified out of other comprehensive income and recognised in
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Exchange rates

The principal exchange rates used in the preparation of the financial statemenls were:

2020 2019
PROFIT OR

LOSS
BALANCE

SHEET
PROFIT OR

LOSS
BALANCE

SHEET
us$/A$
NZ$/A$

1.453
0.943

1.297
0.933

1.439
0.948

1.425
0.959

2. UNDERWRITING ACTIVITIES

Overview

This section provides analysis and commentary on the Company's underuriting activities. Underwriting, in simple
terms, is the agreement by the insurer to assume insurance risk in return for a premium paid by the insured. The
undenrvriter assesses the quali$ of the risk and prices it accordingly.

2.1 Revenue

Overview

Revenue mainly comprises premiums charged for providing insurance coverage. Premiums are classified as
either:

. direct, being those paid by the policyholder to the insurer; or
r inward reinsurance, being for coverage provided to an insurer or reinsurer in relation to a specified grouping of

policies or risks.

Other sources of revenue principally comprise amounts recovered from reinsurers under the terms of reinsurance
contracts and commission income from reinsurers.

13



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

NOTE
2020 20r9

$la$M
Gross earned premium
Direct
lnward reinsurance

233.1
10.8

240.0
14.8

243.9 254.8
Other revenue
Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue
Reinsurance commission revenue
Manaqement fees from related entitv

2.2

8.6.2

93.6
41.5
0.7

50.7
32.4

0.8

135.8 83.9
Total revenue 379.7 338.7

How we account for the numbers

Premium revenue
Premium written comprises amounts charged to policyholders, excluding taxes collected on behalf of third parlies,
Premium revenue is recognised in profit or loss from the date of aftachment of risk over the period of the insurance
contract in accordance with the pattern of the expected incidence of risk, adjusted for policy terminations.

Reinsurance and other recoverles
Reinsurance and other recoveries received and receivable on paid claims, reported claims not yet paid, and claims
incurred but not reported (IBNR) are recognised as revenue. Recoveries receivable are measured as the present
value of the expected future receipts.

Reinsurance commission rsvenue
Reinsurance commission revenue comprises exchange commissions that are a lixed percentage of reinsurance
premiums payable, and variable commissions the level of which depend on the future profitability of reinsured
business. Exchange commissions are recognised in profit or loss on the same basis as reinsurance wrihen
premiums, reflecting the pattern of the expected incidence of risk over the period of indemnity, adjusted for policy
terminations. Variable commissions are brought to account in consideration of the expected performance of the
reinsured policies.

2.2 Net claims expense

Overview

The largest expense for an insurance company is net claims expense, which is the difference between the net
outstanding claims liability (as described in note 2.3 below) at the beginning and the end of the linancial year plus
any claims payments made, net of reinsurance and other recoveries received during the linancialyear.

14



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED
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NOTE
2020 2019

$M$M
Gross claims incurred and related expenses
Direct
lnward reinsurance

172.2
8.5

81.3
15.3

Relnsurance and other recoveries revenue
Direct
lnward reinsurance

{80.7

(e2.4)
(r.21

96.6

(47.S',t
(2,81

2.1 (e3.61 (50.7)

Net claims expense 87.1 45.9
Analysed as followe:
Movement in net discounted cenlral estimate
Movement in risk margin

2.4.1
2.3.3

67.8
19.3

45.1

0"8
Net claims expense 87-'l 45.9

2.3 Net outstanding claims liability

Overview

The net outstanding claims liability comprises the elements described below.

. The gross central estimate (note 2.3.1). This is the provision for expected future claims payments and includes
claims reported but not yet paid, claims incurred bul which have not yet been reported (IBNR) and estimated
claims handling costs.

. Less reinsurance and other recoveries (note 2.3.2). lnsurance companies may elect to purchase reinsurance
to manage their exposure to any one claim or series of claims. \lVhen an insurance company incurs a claim as
a result of an insured loss, it may be able to recover some of that claim from the reinsurers.

. Less an amount lo reflect the discount to present value using risk-free rates of return. The net central estimate
is discounted to present value recognising that the claim andlor recovery may not be settled for some time, The
weighted average risk free rate used to discount the outstanding claims liability is summarised in note 2.3.4.

r Plus a risk margin (note 2.3.3). A risk margin is added to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the net discounted
central estimate of outstanding claims.

2020 2019
$MNOTE $M

Gross discounted central estimate
Risk marqin

2.3.1
2.3.3

252.3
52.1

159.3
32.8

Gross outstanding claims liability
Reinsurance and other recoveries on o

304.4 192.1
claims 2.3.2

Net claims 169.{ 112.6
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The table below analyses the movement in the outstanding claims liability, showing separately the movement in
gross claims liability and the impact of reinsurance;

2020 2019

GROSS REI}.ISURAHCE GROSS REINSURANCE
11il

!IET
ttr 3lt

NET

TM

At 1 Januarv 192.1 (79.51 t12.6 167.5 (67.1) 100.4
Current accident year development
in net discounted outstanding claims
{note 2.4.2J

Prior accident year development In
net discounted outstanding claims
(note 2.4.2)

(98.31 58.0 s2.1 (47.51 44.6

4.7

156.3

Movement in risk marqin (note 2. 3.3)
5.{

.l9.3
9.8

19.3
3.7
0.8

(3.2',1 0.5
0.8

lncurred claims recognised in profit
or loss (Note 2.2)
Claims payments

180.7
(68.41

(e3.6)
37.8

87.1
(30.61

96.6 (50.7)
38.3

45.9
(33.7)Q2, 0)

At31 December 304.4 ({35.3) 169.1 192.1 (79.5) 112.6

2.3.1 Gross discounted central estlmate

NOTE
2420 20ts

$M$M
Gross undiscounted central estimate excluding claims
settlement costs
Claims settlement costs

247.4
5.9

157.6
3.6

Gross undiscounted central estimate 252.9 161.2
Discount to value
Gross discounted central 252.3 159.3
Payable within 12 months 112.4 82.8

layablq. in greater than 12 months i39.9 76.5
Gross discounted centralestimate 2.3 252.3 1593

How we account for the numbens

The gross discounted central estimate is the present value of the expected future payments for claims incurred
and includes reported but unpaid claims, IBNR and claims settlement costs. The net discounted central estimate
is determined by the Appointed Actuary, supported by a team of actuaries. The valualion process includes
extensive consultation with claims and underwriting staff as well as senior management. The central estimate of
outstanding claims is subject to a comprehensive independent review at least annually. The risk management
procedures related to the actuarialfunction are explained further in note 4.

Critical accounting judgemente and estlmates

The determination of the amounts that the Company will ultimately pay for claims arising under insurance and
reinsurance contracts involves a number of critical assumptions. Some of the uncertainties impacting these
assumptions are as follows:

r changes in paterns of claims incidence, reporting and payment;
r volatilitY in the estimation of future costs due to the time that elapses before a definitive determination of the

ultimate claims cost can be made;
r changes in the legal environment, including the interprelation of liability laws and the quantum of damages; and
. changing social, political and economic trends, for example, house price inflation, unemployment and interest

rates.
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The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertaing than the estimation of the cost of
settling claims that have been reported to the Company bul not yet paid, for which some information about the
claims is generally available. The longer the delay between the event giving rise to the claim and final claim
settlement, the greater the variability between initial estimates of the loss incurred and the final settlement amount,
as a result of additional financing and settlement costs incuned by the lender and changes in property valuations,

Central estimates are determined using avariety of estimation techniques, generally based on an analysis of
historical experience which assumes an underlying pattern of claims development and payment. The final selected
central estimate is based on a judgemental consideration of the results of eaeh melhod and qualitative informalion,
for example:

r historical trends in the development and incidence of the numbers of defaults reported, numbers of defaults
cured, numbers of properties taken into possession, numbers of such properties sold, numbers of claims arising
from these sales, and the costs of lhose claims;

. exposure details, including policy counts, sums insured and various other characteristics of lhe borrowers and
loans; and

r historical and likely future trends of expenses associated with managing claims to finalisation.

The gross cenlral estimale is discounted to present value using the appropriate risk-free rate.

Central estimates are calculated gross of any reinsurance and other recoveries. Aseparate estimate is made of
the amounts recoverable based on the gross central eslimate (note 2.3.2).

2. .2 Relnsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims

2420 2019
NOTE $m$M

Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims -
undiscounted
Discount to present value

135.6
(0.31

80.5
(1.0)

Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims 2.3 {35.3 79.5
Receivable within '12 months 60.3

75.0
41.2
38.3Receivable in reater than 12 months

Reinsurance and other recoveries on outstanding claims 2 3 79.5

How we account for the numbers

The reeoverability of amounts due from reinsurers and others is assessed at each balance date to ensure that the
balances properly reflect the amounts lhat are ultimately expected to be received, taking into account counterparg
credit risk and the terms of the reinsurance contracts. Counterparty credit risk in relation to reinsurance assets is
considered in note 4.3. Recoveries are discounted lo present value using the appropriate risk*free rate.

2.3.3 Risk Margln

Overview

A risk margin is determined by the Company's Board to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the net discounted central
estimate.

The risk margin and the net discounted central estimate are key inputs in the determination of the probability of
adequacy (POA), which is a statistical measure of the relative adequacy of the net outstanding claims liability to
ultimately be able to pay claims. For example, a9Doh POA indicates that the outstanding claims liabilig is expected
to be adequate I years in 10.

2A2A 2019
$M$M

Risk margin ($M)

Risk margin as a percentage of the net discounted central estimate (%)
Probability of adequacy (%)

52.1

4.5%
87.5%

32.8
41.1o/o

86.5%
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The overall POA has been increased to 87.5% {2019 86.50lo) as at 31 December2020 to allow for numerous
factors including the degree of uneertaing due to COVID-I9. The risk margin has increased by $1g.3m compared
to the balance at 31 December 2019.

How we account for the numberc

AASB 1023 General lnsurance Contracts requires an entity to adopt an appropriate risk margin. The resulting
probability of adequacy is not of itself an accounting policy as defined by AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes
in Accounting Estrmafes and Enors. The appropriate level of risk margin is not determined by reference to a fixed
probabili$ of adequacy, however the Company aims to maintain a probabilig of adequacy in excess ot 87.5o/a
(2018:85%).

The Board reviews a number of factors when determining the appropriate risk margin, including any changes in
the level of uncertainty in the net discounted central estimate, the resulting probability of adequacy and the risk
margin as a percentage of the net discounted central estimate.

Critical accounting judgements and estimates

The determination of the appropriate level of risk margin takes into account the level of uncertainty in the central
estimate due to estimation enor, data quality, variabilig of key discount assumptions and possible economic and
legislative changes.

The key drivers of uncertainty unique to QBE LMI's insurance liability are as follows:

r Some models rely on consistent arrears management practices and this may change in the future;
r Unceriainties surrounding the global economy, with potential flow-on impacts to the Australian economy

through future property prices, unemployment and interest rates;
r Legislation changes affecting QBE LMI's underwriting practices; and
r Concentration of property losses in a particular region.

2.3.4 Discount rate used to determine the outatanding claims liability

Overview

Claims $pically may not settle for some time. As such, the liability is discounted to reflect the time value of money
The table below summarises the weighted average discount rate used to discount the outstanding claims liability

2024
o/o

2019
o/o

Australia and New Zealand 0.1 0.9

How we account for the numbers

AASB 1023 requires that the net central estimate is discounted to reflect the time value of money using risk-free
rates that are based on current observable, objectiVe rates that relate to the nature, structure and terms of the
future obligations.

2.3.5 Weighted averago term to settlement

Overview

The weighted average term to seftlement refers to the period from the balance date to the expected date of claims
settlement. All other factors being equal, a longerweighted average term to settlement generally results in a larger
impact on the central estimate from discounting. The weighted average term to settlement of lhe Company's
outstanding claims liability is summarised below.

2020
YEARS

2019
YEARS

1.3Australia and New Zealand {.5
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2.3.6 Net discounted central estimate maturity profile

Overview

The maturity profile is the Company's expectation of the period over which the net central estimate will be settled.
The Company uses this information to ensure that it has adequate liquidity to pay claims as they are due to be
settled and to inform the Company's investment strategy. The expected maturity profile of the Company's net
discounted central estimate is analysed below.

.l YEAR OR
LESS

tTo2
YEARS

2TO3
YEARS

3TO4
YEARS

4TO5
YEARS

OVER 5
YEARS TOTAL

2020
2419

$M
$M

52.1

41.5
18.7

8.6
3.t
1.4

3.7
1.6

36.4
23.5

6.0
3.0

117.0
79.6

2.3.7 lmpact of changes in key variables on the net outstanding claims liability

Overview

The impact of changes in key variables used in the calculation of the outslanding claims liability is summarised in
the table below. Each change has been calculated in isolation from the other changes and shows the impact on
profit (after tax, at the 75h percentile) assuming that there is no change to any of the other variables. ln practice,
this is considered unlikely to occur.

The sensitivities below do not consider the impact on the additional risk margin, that is they have been calculated
at the 75th percentile (apart from the change in probability of adequacy). This does not represent the final impact
to profit after tax.

PROFIT
SENSITIVITY

ottc
2020

$M
2019

$m
Severity +2O (14.0)

,4.1
(13.2)
13.2-20

Claim rates +20
-20

(,l7.61
17,2

(6.0)
7.4

Discount rate +5
-5

Coefficient of variation +20 (6.2)
6.7

(3.8)
4.2€0

Probabilig of adeguacy +1

-1
{2.01
1.9

(1.2\
1.2

1 Net of tax at the prima facie rate of 30Vo.
? The impact of a change in in interest rates on profit (after tax, at the 75fr percentile) due to market value movements
on fixed interest securities is shown in note 4.4.

?.4 Claims development - net undlscounted central estimate

Overview

The claims development table demonstrates the exlent to which the original estimated ultimate claims payments
in any one accident year (item (a) in the table below) has subsequently developed hvourably (that is, claims cost
estimates have reduced) or unfavourably {i.e. further claims expense has been recognised in subsequent years).
This table therefore illustrates the variability and inherent uncertainty in estimating the centralestimate each year.
The ultimate claims cost for any particular accident year is not known until all claims payments have been made,
which could be some time into the future. The estimated ultimate claims payments at the end of each subsequent
accident year demonstrates how the original estimate has been revised over time (b).

19



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Cumulative actual net claims payments (d) are deducted from the expected ultimate claims payments in each
accident year (c) at the current balance date, resulting in the net undiscounted central estimate (e), which is
reconciled to the discounted centralestimate (Q.

The accident year movement (g) reflects the ultimate undiscounted net claims estimate at lhe end of the current
financial year (c) less the equivalent at the end of the previous financial year (b). This is further summarised in
note 2.4.1.

The claims development table is presented net of reinsurance. With reinsurance arrangements and with the
Company's risk tolerance managed on a net basis, it is considered neither meaningful nor practicable to provide
this information other lhan on a net accident year basis.

2016 &
PRIOR

YEARS 2017 2019 20242018
9M

TOTAL
EMIt/t $M

ullimate claims payments:
(a) Original estimate of net ultimate

claims payments
(b) One year later

Two years laler
Three years later

37.4
38.3
36.5
36.5

43.9
4.5
46.1

42.8
49.3

9t.4

(c) Current estimate of net ultimate
claims payments

(d) Cumulative net payments to
36.6 46.1 49.3 54.4 {86.4

et central
estimate at 31 Dec 2020
Discount to present value
Claims seftlement costs
Risk marqin

2.6 4.3 {8-8 35.0 50.7 111.4
(0.31

5.9
52.1

(f) Net outstanding claims liability
at 31 Dec 2020 (note 2.3) 169.1

(g) Movement in accident year net
undiscounted central estimate
(note 2.4.11 o.2 0.1 1.6 5.5 54.4 62.8

Uncertainty surrounding claims development is materially resolved within four years.

The development of claims from prior accident years was worse than expected at 31 December 2A20,leading to
an overall strengthening of the central estimate for prior years of $8.4m. This strengthening is impacted by higher
than expected frequency of claims and the approach used to allocate reinsurance by accident years.

How we aecount for the numbers

The Company writes business in Ausiralian dollars and in the case of the New Zealand branch, New Zealand
dollars. The translation of ultimate claims eslimates denominated in foreign culrencies gives rise to foreign
exchange movements which have no direct bearing on the development of the underlying claims. All estimates of
ultimate claims payments for the 4 most recent accident years reported in functional currencies other than
Australian dollars have been translated to Australian dollars using the 2020 average rate of exchange.

2.4.1 Reconciliation of clalms development table to profit or loss

Overview

The table below reconciles the net increase or decrease in estimated ultimate claims payments in the current
financial year from the claims devetopment table (item (g) in note 2.4) lo the analysis of current and prior accident
year central estimate development recognised in profit or loss (note 2.4.2).
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2020 2019
CURRENT

ACCIDENT
YEAR

$M

PRIOR
ACCIDENT

YEARS
$M

TOTAL

CURRENT
ACCIDENT

YEAR

PRIOR
ACCIDENT

YEARS
gM

TOTAL
$M$M

Movement in net undiscounted
central estimate movement (note
2.4)
Movement in claims settlement
costs
Movement in discount

54.4

3.7

{0.{)

62,8

4.3

0.7

42.8

2.2

(0.4)

(1.1)

0.4

1.2

41.7

2.6

0.8

8.4

0.6

0.8

Movement in net discounted
central estimate (note 2.4.2) 58.0 9.8 67.8 44.6 0.5 45.1

2A.2 Net central estimate development

Overview

The lable further analyses the current and prior accident year movement in the net discounted central estimate
separately identifying the gross and reinsurance components. Prior accident year claims are those claims that
occurred in a previous year but for which a reassessment of the claims cost has impacted the result in the current
period,

2020 2019
CURRENT
ACCIDENT

YEAR

$M

PRIOR
ACCIDENT

YEARS
3M

TOTAL
3M

CURRENT
ACCIDENT

YEAR
$M

PRIOR
ACCIDENT

YEARS
$M

TOTAL
$M

Gross central estimate
development
Undiscounted
Discount

156.6
(0.3)

3.4
1.7

160.0
1.4

92.9
(0. e)

1.2
2.5

94.1
1.6

156.3 5.1 {8t.4 92.0 3.7 95.7

Reineurance and other
reeoverles
Undiscounted
Discount

(e8.51 5.6 1

1o.2
{e2.e)

(0.71

(47.s)
0.5

(4e.8)
(0.8)

s)
3)

(e8.3) 4.7 (93.61 @7.4\ rc.z\ (50.6)

Net central eetimato
development
Undiscounted
Discount

58.1
(0.11

67.1
0.7

45.0
(0.4)

(0.7)
1.2

44.39.0
0.8 0.8

Net discounted cenlral estimate
development (note 2.4. 1 ) 58.0 9.8 67.8 44.6 0.5 45.1
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2.5 Unearned premium and deferred insurance costs

Overview

Unearned premium

Gross written premium is earned in profit or loss in accordance with the expected paftern of incidence of risk,
adjusted for policy terminations. The unearned premium liability is that portion of gross written premium that the
Company has not yet earned as it represents insurance coverage to be provided by the Company after the balance
date.

Deferred insurance costs

Premium ceded to reinsurers by the Company in exchange for reinsurance protection is expensed in accordance
with the reinsurance contracls expected patlern of incidence of risks, adjusted, where appropriate, for terminations
of reinsured policies. The deferred reinsurance premium asset is that portion of the reinsurance premium that the
Gompany has not yet expensed as it represents reinsurance coverage to be received by the Company afier the
balance date.

Acquisition costs are the costs associated with obtaining and recording insurance contracts. Acquisition costs are
capitalised and amorlised on the same basis as the related premium. Commissions are a type of acquisition cost
but are disclosed separately.

Summary of unearned premium and deferred insurance costs balances

2020 2019
$M$M

Unearned premium (a) 533.5 538.7
To be earned within 12 months
To be earned in greater than 12 months

184.5
349.0

188.5
350.2

Unearned premium 533.5 538.7
Unearned reinsurance commission (b) 77.3 67.5
To be earned within 12 months
To be earned in qreater than 12 months

26.9
50.4

24.1
43.4

Unearned reinsurance commission 77,3 67.5
Deferred reinsurance premium
Deferred commission expense
Deferred acquisition costs

271.4
4.9

57.5

235.7
5.5

61.8
Defened insurance costs (c) 333.4 303.0
To be expensed within 12 months
To be expensed in qreater than 12 months

116.5
216.9

112.1

1S0.9
Deferred insurance costs 333.4 303.0
Net premium liabilities (a)+(b)-(c) 277.4 343.2

Unearned premium movements

2020
$M

2019
$M

At 1 January
Defenalof premium on contracts written in the financial year
Earnino of oremium wri$en in orevious financial vears

538.7
209.7

1214.91

575.2
191.3

Q27.8)
538.7At 31 December 533.5
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Unearned relnsurance commission income movements

2020 2019
$M$M

At 1 January
Deferral of commission on contracts written in the financial year

67.5
42.0

132.21

58.6
35.7

{26.8)Earninq of commission written in previous financial
At 31 December 77.3 67.5

Deferred insurance costs movements

DEFERRED
REINSURANCE

PREMIUM
DEFERRED

COMMISSION
DEFERRED

ACQU|S|T|ON COSTS
2020 2019

$M
2024 2019

$M
2020

$M
2019

$M$M$M
At 1 January
Costs deferred in financial year

Amortisation of costs deferred in
previous financial years

5.5
1.8

6.8
1.6

235.7
156.9

205.0
132.0

61.8
20.4

66.4
21.0

(121.6) (101.3) 12.41 (2.e) 124.7't (25.6)

At 31 December 271.O 235.7 4.9 5.5 57.5 61.8

How we account for the numbers

Unearned premium

Unearned premium on insurance contracts at balance date is calculated by applying the premium earning pattern
to premium written on active policies. There was no change to the earning pattern in 2020.

Unearned reinsurance commission income

Unearned reinsurance commission income is calculated by applying the premium eaming pattetn, adjusted where
necessary for varying indemnity periods, lo reinsurance commission received or receivable on active reinsurance
polices. There was no change to the pattern in 2020.

Deferred insurance costs

Deferred reinsurance premium is calculated by applying the premium earning pattern, adjusted where necessary
for varying indemnity periods, to reinsurance premiums paid or payable on active reinsurance policies. There was
no change to the pattern in 2020.

Deferred acquisition costs are calculated by applying the premium earning pattern to acquisition costs incurred on
acquiring and recording insurance policies that are still active. The carrying value of deferred acquisition eosts is
subject to impairment testing in the form of the liabili$ adequacy test (note 2.5.11. There was no change to the
pattern in 2020.
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Gritical accounting judgements and estimates

An actuarial analysis of the expected pattern of the incidence of risk over the policy coverage period is used to
derive a recognition (earning) pattern for each underwriting year. The pattern is reviewed annually, and requires
estimating both the total amount of claims expense expected under the contract and when those claims are
expected to arise. These estimations involve the use of significant judgement and are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period.

The earning pattern is subject to a high level of uncertainty. Some of the uncertainties impacting the pattern of
claims incidence are:

. changes in the legal environment, including the interpretation of liability laws and the quantum of damages;

. changes in the social, political and economic trends, for example, house price inflation, unemployment
and interest rates and

Acquisition costs incured in obtaining and recording general insurance contracts are eligible to be deferred where
they can be reliably measured and associated to unearned premium revenue. Direct acquisition cosls such as
commission are readily measurable. Other costs are attributed to policy acquisition activities based on analyses
of the type of expense and the nature of work performed. These analyses are updated annually.

2.5.1 Liability adequacy test

Overuiew

At each balance date, the Company is required lo assess net premium liabilities (being uneamed premium less
deferred insurance costs) to determine whether the amount provided is sufficient to pay future claims.

lf the present value of expected future claims exceeds the net premium liabilities, the net premium liability is
deemed deficient. This deficiency is immediately recognised in profit or loss. ln recognising the deficiency, an
insurer must first write down any related intangible assets and then deferred acquisition costs before recognising
an unexpired risk liability.

Expected present value of future cash flows for future claims including risk margin

2020
$M

20t9
$M

Undiscounted net central estimate
Discount to oresent value

139.9
(3.0t

187.9
$.21

Bisk margin at the 75h percentile of insurance liabilities
136"9

34.2
179.7

43.7
Expected present value of future cash flows for future claims including risk
Ilercin 171.1 223.4

How we account for the numbers

At each balance date, the adequacy of the unearned premium liability is assessed on a net of reinsurance basis
against the present value of lhe expected future claims cash flows, plus an additional risk margin to reflect the
inherent uncertainty of the central estimate. The assessment is carried out at the portfolio level, being a portfolio
of contracts subject to broadly similar risks and which are managed together as a single portfolio.

The application of the liability adequacy test in respect of the net premium liabilities identified a surplus at 31
December 2020 and 2019.

Critlcal accounting judgements and estlmates

ln assessing the adequacy of net premium liabilities, AASB 1023 requires the inclusion of a risk margin but does
not prescribe a minimum level of margin. Wlrilst there is established practice in the calculation of the probability of
adequacy of the outstanding claims liabili$, no such guidance exists in respect of the level of risk margin to be
used in determining the adequacy of net premium liabilities.
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The long duration of policy terms and premium earning pattern mean that the central estimate of future claims
arising under insurance and reinsurance contracts is highly uncertain. Some of the uncertainties are:

r volatility in the estimation of future costs due to the time that elapses before a definitive determination of the
ultimate claims cost can be made;

e changes in the legal environment, including the interpretation of liability laws and the quantum of damages;
I changing social, political and economic trends, for example, house price inflation, unemployment and interest

rates;

The Company has adopted a risk margin ot 25.0o/o (2019:24.3%) for the purpose of the liability adequacy test to
produce a75Yo probability of adequacy in respect of total insurance liabilities. The 75o/o basis is a recognised
industry benchmark in Australia, being the minimum probability of adequacy required for Australian licensed
insurers by Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA).

2.6 Trade and other receivables

Overview

Trade and other receivables are principally amounts owed to the Company by reinsurance counterparties and
related entities.

2420
$M

2015
$M

Reinsurance premium receivables
Reinsurance recoveries on paid claims

10.4
7.9

10.6
8.1

Trade receivables
Accrued interest income
Loan to related entity
Amounts due fiom related entities
Other receivables and prepayments

18.3
5.0

80.0
6.6

11.2

18.7
7.5

60.0
6.4
4.3

Trade and olher receivables 121.',| 96.9
Receivable within 12 months
Receivable in greater than 12 months

121.1 96.9

Trade and olher receivables 121.1 96.9

Amounts due from reinsurers and third parties are settled under standard terms and conditions.

The loan to a related enti$ bears interest at a commercial rate and has an initial maturity within 12 months.

Other amounts due from related entities are interest free and repayable on demand.

Due to the predominantly short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate
the fair value.

How we account for the numbers

Amounts owed to the Company are financial assets wilhin the scope of MSB I Financial lnstruments except for
those amounts which represent rights due under an insurance contract as defined in AASB 4 lnsurance Contracts.

Trade receivables are outside the scope of AASB 9. They are initially recognised atfair value and are subsequently
measured at amortised cosl less any impairment. Any increase or decrease in the provision for impairment is
recognised in profit or loss within underwriting and other expenses for those losses attributable to reinsurance
premiums, and within reinsurance and other recoveries revenue for those losses attributable to reinsurance
recoveries on paid claims.

Receivables within the scope of AASB 9 are managed to collect contractual cash flows and their contractual terms
generate cash flows that are solely payments of principal (and interest thereon, where applicable). Receivables
are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less an allowance for
impairment.
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lmpairment of receivables within the scope of AASB g is calculated as an allowance for expected credit losses
(ECL). Any increase or decrease in the allowance for ECL is recognised in profit or loss within underwriting and
other expenses.

Critlcat accounting judgements and estimatee

For receivables outside the scope of MSB g, an allowance for impairment is established when there is objective
evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original term of the
receivable, The Company regularly reviews the collectability of receivables and lhe adequacy of allowances for
impairment. lnformation on the credit quality of these balances is included in note 4.3. No allowance for impairment
is required at 31 December 2O2O (2019: nil).

For receivables within the scope of MSB g, the allowance for ECL is based on the difference between the cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive" The allowance
for ECL reflects judgements and assumptions that take into account prior credit risk and loss history, current and
expected future market conditions and individual debtor circumstances.

The allowance is based on the portion of lifetime ECL that result from possible default events within 12 months
from reporting date, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition or the
receivable relates to revenue recorded in accordance with AASB 15 Revenue fram Contracts with Cusfomers, in
which case the allowance is based on lifetime ECL.

The Company considers that credit risk on receivables within the scope of AASB t has not increased signilicantly
since initial recognition. These assets represent low credit risks, taking into account the credit standing of the
counterparties, the nature of the exposures, and QBE Group policies and procedures surrounding settlement of
balances. The Company foresees negligible credit losses arising on lhese receivables from possible default
events, and considers that no allowance for impairment is required at 31 December 2020.

Goods and sedices tax {GST}

Revenues, expenses and assets {except receivables and payables) are recognised net of the amount of GST,
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Auskalian Taxation Offlce (ATO). ln these
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense.
Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included within other receivables or payables
in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

The Company is part of a GST group headed by QBE Management Services Pty Limited, a related entig.

2.7 Trade and other payables

Overview

Trade payables primarily comprise amounts owed to reinsurance counterparties and related entities.

2020 2019
$ttlt$u

Reinsurance premium payables 29.5 38.2
Amounts due to related entities 12.8 17.9
Other trade payables ig.B 12.6
Other pavables 9.9 8.1
Trade and other pavables 72.1 76.8
Payable within 12 months T1.T 72.6
Pavable in o reater than 12 months 0.4 4.2

76.8Trade and other 72-1
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Amounts due to reinsurers and third parties are settled under standard terms and conditions. Amounts due to
related entities are repayable on demand and interest free.

How we account for the numbers

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at lair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Reinsurance premium payables represent obligations under an insurance contract as defined in AASB 4 and are
outside the scope of AASB 9.

Amounts due to related entities and other trade payables are financial liabilities within the scope of AASB 9.

3. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Overview

Premiums collected from policyholders are invested to meet the Company's cash flow needs to pay claims and
other expenses, as well as generate a return that contributes to the Company's profitability. A sound investment
strategy is therefore integral to the success of the Company's operations.

The Company invests across a diversified range of instruments to achieve an appropriate balanee between risk
and return, Decisions on where to invest are dependent on expected returns, cash flow requirements of the
Company, liquidity of the instrument, credit quality of the instrument and the overall risk appetite of the Company.
Further details on the management of risk associated with investment assets can be found in note 4.

The Company's investment assets are categorised as either backing policyholders'or shareholde/s funds, with
the former being investment assets which back insurance liabilities whilst the latter comprises allother investment
assets.

3,1 Net investment lncome

2020
SM

2019
$M

lncome on fixed interest securities, short-term money and cash
Dividend income from controlled entity

t1.2
6.3

49.9
6.5

Gross investment incomel
lnvestment expenses

,7.5 56.4

investment income 16.5
1.1

55.3

lnvestment income - policyholders' funds
lnvestment expenses - policyholders' funds
lnvestment income - shareholde/s funds
lnvestment expenses - shareholde/s funds

3-8
(0.31

13.7
(0.71

17.1
(0.4)
39.3
(0.7)

Net investment income {6.5 55.3
1 lncludes net fair value loss of $13.5 million (2019: gain $12.3 million).

How we account for the numbers

lnterest income is recognised in the period in which it is earned. Dividends are recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

lnvestment income includes realised and unrealised gains or losses on financial assets which are reported on
a combined basis as net fair value gains or losses on financial assels.
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3.2 lnvestment assets

2020 20{9

tncome
Short-term money
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
lnfrastructure debt

138.1
122.5
767.8

26.1

26.6
201.0
980.1

11.4
1,054.5 '1,219.1

Growth Assets
Develooed market eouitu 6.5
Total investments 1,054.5 1,225.6
Amounts maluring within 12 months 351.0 ?42.3
Amounts maturino in oreater than 12 months 703.5 983.3
Total investments 1.054.5 1.225.6

How we account for the numbers

lnvestment assets are financial assets within the scope of AASB 9. The Company's investments were designated
as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition and subsequently remeasured to fair value at each
reporting date, reflecling the Company's business model for managing and evaluating the investment portfolio.
The fair value hierarchy and the Company's approach to measuring the fair value of each investment instrument
is disclosed in note 3.2.1.

Assets that are subsequently measured at fair value through prolit or loss are not subject to impairment
considerations under the ECL methodology.

All purchases and sales of investments that require delivery of the asset within the time frame established by
regulation or market convention are recognised at trade date, being the date on which the Company commits to
buy or sell the asset. lnvestments are derecognised when the right to receive future cash flows from the asset has
expired or has been transfered and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership,

3.2.1 Fair value hierarchy

Overview

The QBE Group lnvestments Valuation Committee is responsible for the governance and oversight of the valuation
process. The fair value of investments is determined in accordance with the QBE Group's investment valuation
policy which has been adopted by the Company.

The investments of the Company are disclosed in the table below using a fair value hierarchy which reflects the
significance of inputs into the determination of fair value as follows:

Level 1: Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for the same instruments.

Level 2: Valuation is based on quoted prices for identical instruments in markets which are not active, quoted
priees for similar instruments or valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are based on observable
market data, for example, consensus pricing using broker quotes or valuation models with observable inputs.

Level 3: Valuation techniques are applied in which one or more significant inputs are not based on observable
market data.
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2A20 2019
LEVELI LEVEL2 LEVEL3 TOTAL LEVEL1 LEVELz LEVEL3 TOTAL

gM $M $M 3M SM SM $M SM

Fixed income
Short-term money
Government bonds
Corporate bonds
lnfrastructure debt
Growth Assets
Developed market
eouitv

0.1
tt.:

138.0
{06.0
767.8

28.1

138.1
122.5
767.8

26.1

26.6
241.0
980.1

11.4

0.6
73.7

6.5

26.0
127.3
980.1

11.4

6.5
Total investments 16.6 1,0{1.8 26j I .054-5 80,8 1.133.4 11.4 1.225.6

The Company's approach to measuring the lair value of investments is described below:

Short-term money
Term deposits are valued at par plus accrued interest and are categorised as level 1 fair value measurements.
Other short-term money (bank bills, certiflcates of deposit, treasury bills and other shortterm instruments) are
priced using interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals.

Government bonds and corporate bonds
Bonds which are traded in active markels and have quoted prices from external data providers are categorised as
level 1 fair value measurement. Bonds which are not traded in active markets are priced using broker quotes,

using comparable prices for similar instruments or using pricing techniques set by local regulators or exchanges
and are categorised as level 2 fair value measurements.

lnfrastructure debt
lnfrastructure debt prices are sourced from the investment manager who may use a combination of observable
market prices or comparable market prices where available and other valuation techniques.

Developed market equity
Listed equities traded in active markets are valued by reference to quoted bid prices.

4. RISK MANAGEMENT

Overvlew

The Company is in the business of managing risk, and its ability to satisfu customers' risk management needs is

central to what we do. The Company aims to generate wealth and maximise returns for its shareholders by
pursuing opportunities that involve risk. Our people are responsible for ensuring that the Company's risks are
managed and controlled on a day to day basis. The Company aims to use its ability to properly manage risk to
provide more certainty and improved outcomes for all stakeholders.

The Australia Pacific division of QBE Group (QBE AusPac), of which the Company is a part, applies a consistent
and integrated approach to enlerprise risk management (ERM). QBE AusPac's risk management framework sets
out the approach to managing key risks and meeting strategic objectives whilst taking into account the creation of
value for our shareholders. The Company's risk management framework is articulated in the Risk Management
Strategy (RMS) and Reinsurance Management Strategy (REMS), both of which are approved annually by the
Company Board and lodged with APRA.

The framework consists of complementary elements that are embedded throughout the business management
cycle and culture of the organisation. Key aspects include risk appetite, governance, reporting, risk assessments,
modelling and stress testing, management and monitoring and risk culture.
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Risk management is a continuous process and an integral part of robust business management. QBE AusPac's
approach is to integrate risk management into the broader management processes of the organisation. lt is QBE
AusPac's philosophy to ensure that risk management remains embedded in lhe business and that the risk makers
or risk takers are themselves the risk managers. Specifically, the management of risk must occur at each point in
the business management cycle.

QBE Group's strategy for managing risk is to:

. achieve competitive advantage by better understanding the risk environments in which we operate;r give confidence to the business to make objective, risk-based decisions to optimise returns; and
o avoid unwelcome surprises to the achievement of business objectives by reducing uncertainty and volatility

through the identification and management of risks.

The framework is supported by a suite sf policies that detail QBE AusPac's approach to the key risk categories
used by companies within the division to classiff risk:

r Strategic risk (note 4.1)
r lnsurance risk (note 4.2)
. Credit risk (note 4.3)
. Market risk (note 4.4)
r Liquidity risk (note 4.5)
r Operational risk (note 4.6)
r Gompliance risk (note 4.7)
. Group risk (note 4.8)

The Company has adopted the risk management approach and Famework set by QBE Group and QBE AusPac.

4,'l Strategic risk

Overview

Strategic risk is the cunent and prospective impact on earnings and/or capital arising from strategic business
decisions and responsiveness to extemalchange. QBE AusPac classilies strategic risk into five sub-categories,
that have been adopted by the Company, as follows:

r business, product, market and distribution approach;
. capital structure, organisationalstructure, strategic asset planning and management;
r acquisition/disposal decision and negotiation;
. tax planning and decisioning; and
. external environment, including disruption from competitors; economic, social and governance risks;

reputational impact; and geo-polilical and regu latory uncertainty.

The Company's approach to managing slrategic risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's strategic risk appetite
statement that has been adopted by the Company Board and is summarised below.

Buslness, product and market dlstributlon

o Business: The Company is a residential lenders' mortgage insurance company undenrriting business in
Australia and New Zealand. The Company's Board meets at least quarterly to review performance against
business plans. Actual results are monitored and analysed regularly atvarious levels in the Company to identiff
adverse trends so lhat remedial action can be taken at an early stage. One of the key tools used to ensure
achievement of business plans is to identify the 'manage to' likely scenarios impacting the plan year based on
events that have occurred or risks identified since plans were set. The Company assesses how these scenarios
would impact return on equity (ROE) forecasts and develop and implement bridging actions to drive plan
achievabilig.
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. Products: The Company reviews the structuring of its insurance products on an ongoing basis in line with
market expectations and developments, legislation and claims trends.

r Market distribution approach: The Company makes use of banks and other financial institutions to market
its insurance products.

Gapital structurs, organisational structure, strategic asset planning and management

The lnternal Capital Adequacy Assessment process (ICAAP) outlines the Company's approach for ensuring
adequate capital is maintained over time and for monitoring compliance with regulatory capital requirements and
targets.

The ICAAP includes:
. specilic capital targets set in the context of Company's risk profile, the Company Board's risk appetite and

regulatory capital requirements;
. plans for how target levels of capital are to be met; and
r potential sources of additional capital, if required.

The ICMP also sets out the Company's actions and procedures for monitoring compliance with its regulatory
capital requirements and capital trargets. These include:

o the setting of triggers to alert management to potential breaches of these requirements; and
r actions to avert and rectiff potential breaches of these requirements.

Achieving capital targets is dependent on an appropriate level and mix of capital, and effective capital management
to yield adequate returns. Oversight of the Company's capital management framework is performed by senior
management, the QBE AusPac Executive Risk and CapitalCommiftee and the Company Board Risk and Capital
Committee.

Management has a parlicular focus on the following performance indicators:

. The Company actively manages the components of capital in order to maintain a level of eligible regulatory
capital that exceeds APRA requirements. The Company Board set the target level of regulatory capital lor 2AZA
at 1.32-1.44 times (2019: 1.32-1.44 times) the Prescribed Capital Amount (PCA).

r The Company is subject to regulatory requirements to maintain a minimum level of capital to meet obligations
to policyholders. lt is the Company's policy to maintain a capital base appropriate to its size, business mix,
complexi$ and risk profile which fulty complies with and meets or exceeds local regulatory requirements.

. lnsurer financial strength ratings provided by the major rating agencies demonstrate the Company's financial
strength and claims paying ability.

ln addition to the management reporting and planning processes, the Company has dedicated staff responsible
for underslanding the regulalory capital requirements of its operations. The quality of assets (particularly
investments and reinsurance recoveries) held by the Company is continuously monitored to ensure any potential
issues are identified and remedial action, where necessary, is taken to restore effective capital levels.

Tax risk management

The Company's approach to managing taxation risk is underpinned by the QBE Group Tax Risk Policy.

The Company's approach to tax management is based on the following guiding principles:

. the Company seeks open, honest and lransparent relationships with tax authorities in all relevant jurisdictions;
r the Company will comply with all applicable tax laws, regulations and disclosure requirements and pay the

amount of tax that is legally required to be paid in all the jurisdictions in which the Company operates;
r the Company engages in efficient tax planning that supports our business and reflects commercial and

economic activity - no transaction will be entered into where obtaining a tax benefit is the primary purpose; and
. the Company conducts transactions with other QBE companies on an arm's length basis in accordance with

current Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) principles.
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External environment, includlng dlsruption from competitore; economic, social and governance {ESG)
risks ; reputational lmpaet; and geo- political and regulatory uncertainty

The QBE Group Strategic Risk Policy govems the management of risks arising from the external environment.

Competitor actions, geo- political and regulatory uncertainty are monitored and regularly reported to the Company
Board.

QBE Group's ESG Risk and Emerging Risk standards operationalise the Company's approach to managing ESG
and emerging risks respectively, including climate change. Biannual horizon scans are performed on ESG and
emerging risks, including assessment of potential financial and reputational impacts. Risk treatment plans are
developed for material risks, which include development of underwriting and investment policy, monitoring
ftameworks and stress and scenario analysis. ESG risks and emerging risks are regularly reported to the QBE
AusPac Executive Risks and Capital Committee and the Company Board Risk and Capital Commiftee,

Climate change is a material business risk for the Company, potentially impacting our business and customers in
the medium to long-term lnsurance risk

4.2 lnsurance Risk

Overview

lnsurance risk is the risk of fluctuations in the timing, frequency and severig of insured events and claims
settlements, relative to expectations,

QBE AusPac classifies insurance risk into three subcategories:

r undenrrriting / pricing;
r insurance concentration; and
. reserving.

The Company's approach to managing insurance risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's insurance risk appetite
statement and lnsurance Risk Policy, which have been approved by the Company Board and is summarised
below.

Undonrvritinglpricing risk

The Company manages underwriting/pricing risk by appropriately setting and adjusting underwriting strategy, risk
selection and pricing practices throughout lhe underwriting cycle.

The Company is a monoline insurer providing residential lenders' mortgage insurance (LMl) in Australia and New
Zealand. The New Zealand Branch ceased to write new policies in 2013.

LMI insures the lender should the borrower default on repayment of the loan, and covers the remaining loan
balance, plus selling cosls and expenses, following the application of the proceeds from the sale of the security
property.

The Company's undenrvriting strategy aims to diversifu and limit the type of insurance risks accepted and reduce
the variabili$ of the expected outcome. The underwriting strategy is implemented through the Company's annual
business planning process, supported by undenrriting authorities. These authorities reflect the level of risk that
the Company is prepared to take with respect to each permitted insurance class.

Pricing of risks is controlled by the use of in-house pricing models relevant to specific portfolios and the markets
in which the Company operates. Underwriters and actuaries maintain pricing and claims analysis for each portfolio,
combined with a knowledge of cunent developments in the respective markets and classes of business.
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lnsurance concentratlon riek

lnsurance concentration risk for a lenders' mortgage insurer is the risk of catastrophic loss resulting from a
prolonged economic downturn. The Company operates in Australia, New Zealand (in run-off since 2013) and has
a subsidiary in Hong Kong. lts exposures are monitored and limits on maximum aggregate exposures to individual
borrowers and per property, are contained in underwriting policies and embedded in systems and processes.

The Company is exposed to the possibility of large losses from economic events such as a significant increase in
regionalor nationwide unemployment levels, weakening in house prices, or a significant increase in interest rates
over a short period of time. As required by APRA, the Company calculates its insurance concenlration risk charge
('ICRC") which is the net probable maximum loss from a APRA prescribed three-year economic or property
downturn equivalent to a 1-in-200 year event. As at 31 December 2020, lhe ICRC was $400.8 million (2019: $487.8
million).

Reserving risk

Reserving risk is managed through the actuarial valuation of insurance liabilities. The valuation of the net central
estimate is performed by qualified and experienced actuaries, with reference to historical data and reasoned
expectations of future events. The cenlral estimate is subject to a comprehensive independlnt external review at
least annually.

4.3 Credit risk

Overview

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss where a customer, counterpafi or issuer fails to meet their financial
obligations to the Company in accordance to the agreed terms. The Company's exposure to credit risk results
principally from financial transactions with securities issuers, debtors, reinsurers and underlying mortgagees.

The Company's approach to managing credit risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's credit risk appetite and Credit
Risk Policy, which have been approved by the Company Board and are summarised below.

Reinsurance credit risk

The Company's objective is to place reinsurance with highly rated counterparties. Concentration of risk with
reinsurance counterparties is monitored strictly and regularly by the QBE Group Security Committee and is
controlled by reference to the following protocols:

. treaty or facultative reinsurance is placed in accordance with the requirements of the Company's REMS and
security committee guidelines;

. reinsurance arrangements are regularly reassessed to determine their effectiveness based on current
exposures, historical claims and potential future losses based on the Company's insurance concentrations; and

. exposure to reinsurance counterparties and the credit quali$ of those counterparties is actively monitored.

Credit risk exposures are calculated regularly and compared with authorised credit limits. ln certain cases, the
Company requires letters of credit or other collateral arrangements to be provided to guarantee the recoverability
of the amount involved. The Company holds $184.5 million (2019: $192.0 million) in collateral to support
reinsu rance recoveries on outstandi ng claims.

The following table provides information about the quality of the Company's credit risk exposure in respect of
reinsurance recoveries on outstanding claims at the balance date. The analysis classifies the assets according to
Standard & Poor's (S&P) counterparg credit ratings. AAA is the highest possible rating. Rated assets falling
outside the range of MA to BBB are classified as speculative grade.
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CREOIT RATING

$M

AA
$M

AAA
$M

A
$M

SPECULATIVE
BBB GRADE
$M $M

NOT
RATED

$M
TOTAL

As at 3{ December 2020
Reinsurance recoveries on
outstanding claimsl
Reinsurance recoveries on
paid claims

122.4

7.9

122.4

7.9
As at 31 December2019
Reinsurance recoveries on
outstanding claimst
Reinsurance recoveries on

71.3

claims 8.1
Excludes other non-re insurance recoveries of $12.8 million 9: million).

None of the Company's reinsurance recoveries are past due or impaired or have terms that have been
renegotiated and would otherurise have been past due or impaired (2019: nil).

lnsurance and other credit risk

Credit risk arising from insurance contracts principally relates to the risk of default by the underlying borrowers.

As an insurer or reinsurer, the Company does not receive access to lhe current credit quality of performing insured
loans but is provided with data on loans in default by insured lenders. The relevant LMI master policy defines
"default" as the borrower's failure to pay when due an amount equalto the scheduled monthly mortgage payment
under the terms of the mortgage. Generally, the master policies require an insured to notify the insurer of a default
within fourteen days of the end of the month when the total amount due is unpaid and in arrears by more than
ninety days. For reporting and internal tracking purposes, the Company does not consider a loan to be in default
until it has been delinquent for three consecutive monthly payments.

Credit risk on LMI contracts is therefore principally managed up-front through the undenrrriting process, prior to
the acceptance of risk. The Company has a centralised credit risk function that incorporates pricing, claims liability
modelling, credit policy, portfolio performance reporting and analysis, and underwriting quality assurance.

Acceptance of credit risk is managed primarily using two scorecards, built on credit bureau data and Company
portfolio history. Credit rules are used to support these two scorecards. The centralised credit risk unit manages
and maintains the scorecards and a centralised underwriting policy and procedure.

Lenders usually collect the single premium from a prospective borrower and remit the amount to the Company.
Under a standard LMI policy, premium payment is required before policy cover is incepled, which eliminates credit
risk on premiums receivable.

The Company does not hold any collateral as security against ils exposures, however, in the event of a claim by
the lender, the lender's rights as mortgagee are assigned to the Company.

The Company regularly reviews the collectability of receivables and the adequacy of associated provisions for
impairment. Balances are monitored on the basis of uncollected debt.

None of the Company's receivables are past due, impaired or have terms that have been renegoliated and would
otherwise have been past due or impaired (2019: nil).

lnvestment and Treasury credlt risk

The Company only transacts with investment counterparties within{he limits outlined in the delegated authorities.
lnvestment counterparty exposure limits are applied to individual counterparty exposures and to multiple
exposures within the one group of related companies in relation to investments and cash deposits. Counterpar$
exposure limit compliance is monitored daily.
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The following table provides information regarding the Gompany's aggregate credit risk exposure at the balance

date in respect of the major classes of financial assets. The analysis classifies the assets according to S&P

counterparty credit ratings. AAA is the highest possible rating. Rated assets falling outside the range of AAA to
BBB are classified as speculative grade.

CREDIT RATING

8BBA
$M $M

AA
$M

Alud
SM

SPECULATIVE
GRADE

$M

NOT
RATED

3M
TOTAL

$M

As at31 December2020
Cash and cash equivalents
I nterest-bearinq investments 76.0

21.4
336.7 429.2 212.6

21.4
1,054.5

As at 3{ December 2019
Cash and cash equivalents
I nterest-bearing investments

10.3
400.8

10.3
1.219.12il.1 361.4 202.8

The carrying amount of the relevant asset classes in the balance sheet represents the maximum amount of credit
exposure.

4.4 Market Risk

Overview

Market risk is the risk of variability in the value of investmenls due to:

r investment market movemenl (including equity prices, interest rates and credit spreads); and
. foreign exchange rate movement.

The Company's approach to managing market risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's market risk appetite and the
Market Risk Policy, which have been approved by the Gompany Board and are summarised below.

The Company's approach to managing investment market movements is underpinned by QBE AusPac's
investment strategy which outlines QBE AusPac's view of the markets and its corresponding investment approach.

lnvestment market risk is managed through the application of exposure and asset limits. These limits are based
on the market risk appetite as determined by the Company Board and apply to:

r losses genented on the investment portfolio under a market stress scenario. The scenario assumes adverse
movements in market factors and is designed to reflect a significant market slress evenl;

r sensitivities to changes in interest rate and credit spreads, measured in terms of modified duration and spread
duration;and

r total combined holdings in equity and other growth assets as a proporlion of the Company's total investment
portfolio.

lnterest rate rlsk

The Company is exposed to interesl rate risk through its holdings in interest-bearing assets. Financial instruments
with a floating interest rate expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk, whereas fixed interest rate
inslruments expose the Company to fair value interest rate risk.

The Company's risk management approach, as adopted from QBE AusPac, as to minimise interest rate risk by

actively managing investment portfolios to achieve a balance between cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk. The Company predominantly invests in high quality, liquid interest-bearing securities and cash,
and may use derivative financial instruments to manage the interest rate risk of the fixed interest portfolio, The risk
management processes over these derivative financial instruments include close senior management scrutiny,
including appropriate Company Board and other management reporting, Derivatives are used only for approved
purposes and are subject to Company Board approved risk appetites and delegated authority levels provided to
management. The level of derivative exposure is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Appropriate segregation of dutles
exists with respect to derivative use and compliance with policy, limits and other requirements is elosely monitored.
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The net central estimate of outstanding claims is discounted to present value by reference to risk-free interest
rates. The Company is therefore exposed to potential undenrvriting result volatility as a result of interest rate
movements. ln practice, over lhe longer term, an increase or decrease in interest rates is normally offset by
a corresponding increase or decrease in inflation, Details are provided in note 2.3.7.

The Company maintains a relatively short asset duration relative to policyholders' funds. At 31 December 2020,
the average modified duration of cash and fixed interest securities was 1.4 years {2019: 2.0 years).

All investments are financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. Movements in interest rates
impact the value of interest-bearing financial assets and therefore impact reported profit after income tax. The
impact of a 0.5% increase or decrease in interest rates on interest-bearing financial assets owned by the Company
at the balance date is shown in the table below.

PROFIT
SENSITIVITY

o/o
2020

$M
2019

$u
lnterest rate movemenl - interest-bearing financial assels +0.5

-0.5
{5.1)
4.3

(8.7)
8.5

Net of tax at the prima facie rate of 30%

Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the fairvalue of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices (other than those arising ftom interest rate or currency risk), whether those changes are caused
by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded on the market.

The Company is exposed to price risk on its interest-bearing fixed interest financial assets. All securities are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Movements in credit spreads impact the vatue of interest-bearing
securities and therefore impact reported profit after income tax. This risk is managed by investing in high quality,
liquid interest-bearing securities and by managing the credit spread duration of the corporate securities portfolio.

The impact of either a 0.5% increase or decrease in credit spreads on interest-bearing financial assets held by the
Company at the balance date is shown in the table below.

SENSITIVITY
ot
TO

PROFTT {LOSS)I
2020 2019
$u $M

Credit spread movement - corporate interest-bearing financial
assets

+0.5
-0.5

(5.5)
4.1

(6.6)
6.5

I Net of tax at the prima facie rate of 30%

Foreign exchange

The Company's approach to foreign exchange management is underpinned by QBE AusPac's foreign currency
strategy. The Company's foreign exchange exposure generally arises as a result of either the translation of foreign
culTency amounts to the functional currency (operational currency risk) or due to the translation of the Company's
net investment in foreign operations to the presentation currency of Australian dollars (currency translation risk).

Qperational currency risk

The Company has limited exposure to foreign currency and therefore lhe operationalcunency risk is minimal.

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising from operational foreign currency exposures are reported in profit or
loss"

Currency risk ln relatlon ta tnnslation af forelgn operations

The Company is exposed to currency risk in relation to the translation of the New Zealand branch to the functional
currency of Australian dollars.
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The Company does not currently seek to use derivatives to mitigate currency translation risk on translation to the

functional currency of Australian dollars for the following reasons:

r cUrr€rcy translation gains and losses generally have no cash flow;
r curr€ncv translation gains and losses are accounted for in the foreign currency translation reserve

(a component of equig) and therefore do not impact profit or loss unless related to the disposal of an entity;
and,

. management of translation risk needs to be balanced against the impact on capital requirements and liquidity
risk.

4.5 Liquidity risk

Overview

Liquidig risk is the risk of insufficient liquid assets to meet liabilities as they fall due or only being able to achieve
the required level of liquidity at excessive cost. The Company's liquidity risk arises due to the nature of insurance
activities where the timing and amount of cash outflows are uncertain.

The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's liquidity risk appetite and
Liquidity Risk Policy, which have been approved by the Company Board.

The Company manages liquidity risk using a number of tools, as follows:

r cdsh flow targeting;
. maintaining a minimum proportion of liabitities in liquid assets;
r caSh flow forecasting; and
. stress testing and contingency planning.

Liquidity is managed across the Company using a number of cash flow forecasting and targeting tools and
techniques. Cash flow forecasting and targeting is conducted at operational level and involves actively managing
operational cash flow requirements.

To supplement the cash flow targeting and to ensure that there are sufficient liquid funds available to meet
insurance and investment obligations, a minimum percentage of the Company's liabilities is held, at all times, in

cash and liquid securities. The Company also maintains a defined proportion of the funds under management in

liquid assets.

The Company actively forecasls cash llow requirements lo identify future cash surpluses and shortages to optimise
invested cash balances and limit unexpected calls from the investment pool. The Company limits the risk of liquidity
shortfalls resulting from mismatches in the timing of claims payments and receipts of claims recoveries by
negotiating cash call clauses in reinsurance contracts and seeking accelerated settlements for large reinsurance
recoveries.

The following table summarises the maturig profile of the Company's financial and contingent liabilities based on
the remaining contraclual obligations.

I YEAR
OR LESS

1TO3
YEARS

3TO5
YEARS

OVER 5
VEARS TOTAL

As at 31 December 2020
Trade and other payables
Gontingent liabilities (Note 8.2)

71.7
64.9

0.4 72.1
64.9

As at3l December2019
Trade and other payables
Contingent liabilities (Note 8,2)

72.6
71.3

4.2 76.8
71.3

The maturig profile of the Company's net discounted central estimate is analysed in note 2.3.6.
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The maturity of the Company's directly held interest-bearing financial assets is shown in the table below

INTEREST BEARING FINANCIAL ASSETS MATURING IN

1 YEAR
OR LESS

SM

1TO 2
YEARS

$M

2TO3
YEARS

$M

3TO4
YEARS

$M

4TO5 0VER5
YEARS YEARS

$M SM

Total
$M

As at3{ December2020
Fixed rate
Weighted average interest
rate
Floating rate
Weighted average interest
rate

$M

o/o

$M

Yo

264.3

0,2
108.1

0.1

100.5 106.7

0.7
86.0

0.4

35.6

0.5
46.7

1.5

17,7

1.5
33.1

0.6

,l01.1

0.9
61.4

1.3

625.9

0.5
450.0

0.6

0.3
114.7

0 .J

As at 31 December 2019
Fixed rate
Weighted average interest
rate
Floating rale
Weighted average interest
rate

$M

o/o

$M

Vo

170.5

1.3
82.0

1.2

187.6

1.4
't16.1

1.4

108.2

't.5
115.3

1.5

124.4

1.9
17.2

1.6

38.7

1.7
45.3

2.2

155.3

1.5
68.7

1.9

784.7

1.5
444.6

1.6

4.6 Operational risk

Overview

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed intemal processes, people and systems or
from external events (including legal risk).

Operationalriskcan materialise in a numberof forms including internalfraud, externalfraud, employment practices
and workplace safety, improper business practices, damage to physical assets, business disruption and system
lailures and execution, delivery and process management.

The Company's approach to managing operational risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's operational risk appetite
and OperationalRisk Policy, which have been approved by the Company Board.

The Company identifies and assesses operational risk through:

. The Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) process, which identifies and assesses the key risks to
achieving business objectives and is conducted at business unit level.

. The Operational Risk Appetite Statement, which sels out the nature and level of risk the Company Board is
willing to take in pursuit of the organisation's objectives. The Operational Risk Appetite Statement is measured
through an assessment of the control environment, key risk indicators, issues and incidents.

r The emerging risk process, which identifies and assesses new risks, which are characterised by incomplete
but developing knowledge or existing risks that develop in new or surprising ways.

r The scenario analysis process, which assesses the impact of potentially extreme scenarios and the
appropriateness of our contingency planning,

4.7 Compllance risk

Overview

Compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory penalties, financial loss or impacts and non-ftnancial loss or
impacts (including reputational damage) resulting from a breach of obligations. Obligations refers to those in
legislation, regulation, industry codes and standards, internal polices and ethical and business standards.

The Gompany's approach to managing compliance risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's compliance risk appetite,
which has been approved by the Company Board and is summarised below.
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The Company manag€s compliance risk through its governance, culture, stakeholder management and strategy
approach. There are six components for managing compliance risk with defined lesponsibilities across the three
lines of defence:

. identify compliance obligations and controls;

. embed compliance obligations across systems and process;

. communicate and train staff on compliance requirements;

. monitor obligations and conlrols;

. identifo and rectiff issues, incidents and breaches; and

. report on and assess the state of compliance,

Compliance management is subject to continuous improvement, recognising changes in the regulatory and legal
environment and industry, customer and communi$ expectations,

4.8 Group Risk

Overview

Group risk is the risk to a division arising specifically from being pad of the wider QBE Group, including linancial
impact and loss of support from the parent Company.

The Company's approach to managing group risk is underpinned by QBE AusPac's risk appetite, which has been
approved by the Company Board and is summarised below.

Sources of group risk may include group initiatives or strategies with a material impact on one or more divisions,
shared global reinsurance programs, inter-company loans and shared use of centralised group functions (such as
for procurement and information technology). Group risk also includes the potential risk from reputational
contagion.

The Company manages group risk through various systems, controls and processes, including the use of
intercompany transactions and balances accounting guidance, transfer pricing guidelines and investment
management ag reements.

5. CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Overvlew

QBE Group's objective in managing capital is to maintain an optimal balance between debt and equity in order to
reduce the overall cost of capital whilst satisffing the capital adequacy requirements of regulators and rating
agencies, providing financial security for our policyholders and continuing to provide an adequate return to
shareholders. As a wholly owned member of the group, the Company has adopted the capital management
policies and framework of the QBE Group.

Delails of the Company's approach to capital risk management are disclosed in note 4.1.

5.1 Cash and cash equivalents

2024 20{9
$m$nn

Cash at bank on hand
Overnight money

20.6 9.4
0.90.8

21.4 10.3

Analysed as follows:
Floating interest rate 21.4 10.3

10.321.4
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How we account for the numberc

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand and deposits at callwhich are readily convertible to
cash on hand and which are used for operational cash requirements.

Cash and cash equivalents are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents are subjected to impairment testing using the AASB I ECL methodology. The
Company considers that credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition, and that these assets
represent low credit risks, taking into account the credit standing of the counterparties and the nature of the
exposures. The Company foresees negligible credit losses arising on cash and cash equivalents from possible
default events within 12 months from the reporting date, and considers that no allowance for impairment is required
at31 December2A20.

Amounts in cash and cash equivalents are the same as those included in the statement of cash flows.

The reeonciliation of profit afier income tax to cash flows from operating activities is included in note 8.3.

6.2 Equlty and reserues

Overview

Ordinary shares in the Company rank afler all creditors, have no par value and entitle the holder to participate in
dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held.

6,2.1 Share capital

2020 2020 2019 2019
NUMBER OF

SHARES
MILLIONS

NUMBER F
SHARES

MILLIONS
lssued ordinary shares, ly
lssued ordinary shares.

paid at I January
paid at 31 December

327.8
327.9

364.3
364.3

327.8
327.8

364.3
364.3

5.2.2 Reserves

2420 2019

Foreign currency
At 1 January
Gain on translation

resel e
0.s0.5

Total reserves at 31 December 0.5 0.5

5.3 Divldends

Overuiew

Provision is made for dividends which are declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion
of the Company, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at the balance date.

2A2A 2019

oaid or oavable 177.4 113.0

During the year, dividends were paid through in-specie transfer of $176.7 million (2019: $108.7 million)
investments, non-cash seftlement l2O2A: $nil, 2019: $3.3 million) due fiom related entities and $0.7 million (2019:
$1.0 million) cash.
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5.4 APRAcapitaladequacy(Solvency)

Overview

APRA Prudential Slandard GPS 110 Capital Adequacy for General lnsurers requires that the Company maintain
a capital base in excess of its prudential capital requirement as defined under the prudential standard.

The following table shows the capital adequacy calculated in accordance with the APRA prudential framework,
The 2019 and 202Q position reflects the year to date 31 December quarter APRA retum (unaudited).

2024 2019

Eligible Tier 1 capltal as defined by APRA
Contributed equity
General reserves
Retained profits t

I nsurance liabilitv surDlus

364.3
0.4

389.9
94.2

364.3
0.5

550.8
67.6

Totalequitv 848.8 983.2

APRA deductions
TotalAPRA capital base

75.5
773.3

75.2

APRA prudential capital requirement 515.6 611.7

APRA Caoital adeouacv multiple 1.50 1.48
rRetained profits are in accordance with APRA prudential standards

6. TAX

Overview

lncome tax expense is the accounting tax charge for the period and is calculated as lhe tax payable on the current
period taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate, adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and
liabilities aftributable to temporary differences and unused tax losses. The relationship between accounting profit

and income tax expense is provided in the reconciliation of prima facie tax to income tax expense (note 6.1).
lncome tax expense does not equate to the amount of tax actually paid to tax authorities as it is based upon the
accrual accounting concept.

Accounting income and expenses do not always have the same recognition pattern as taxable income and
expenses, creating a timing difference as to when a tax expense or benefit can be recognised. These differences
usually reverse over time but until they do, a deferred tax asset or liability is recognised on the balance sheet.
Note 6.2 details the composition and movements in defened tax balances and the key management assumptions
applied in recognising tax losses.

The Company's approach to managing tax risk is disclosed in note 4-1.
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6.'l lncome tax

Reconciliation of prima facie tax to income tax expense

NOTE
2420 2019

SM$M
Profit before
Prima facie tax payable at
Tax effect of non-temporary differences:

Untaxed dividends

6.2

{{.8t

120.7
36.2

fi 9)
Prima facie tax adiusted for non{emoorarv differences 4.4 34.3
lncome tax exoense 4.4 34.3
Analysed as follows:

Current tax
Deferred lax

5.2
(0.8t

33.4
0.9

4.4 34,3
Defened lax expense comprlses:

Deferred tax assets recoonised in orofit or loss 6.2.1 t0.8! 0.9
(0.81 0,9

How we account for the numbers

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period" Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tiax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Cunent tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entig has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liabilig simultaneously.

Current and defened tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items reeognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. ln this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, as appropriate.

6.2 Deferred income tax

NOTE
2020 2019

$M$M
Deferred tax assets 6.2.1 2.5 1.7

6.2.1 Deferred tax assets

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

2020 2019
$M$lt,NOTE

Amounts recognlsed in prolit or loss
lnsurance provisions
Other accrued exoenses

1"9
0.6

1.2
0.5

Deferred tax assets 2.5 1.76.2

2.5
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Movements:

NOTE
2420

$rut

2019
$M

At 1 January
Amounts recoonised in orofit or loss 6.1

1.7
0.8

2.6
{0.9)

At31 December 2.5 1.7

How we account for the numbers

Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liabili$ method on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of an assetor liabilig in atransaction otherthan abusiness
combination that at the time of the lransaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using lax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the relaled deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised fordeductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operalions where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probabla that the ditferences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in the financial statements when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authorig.

6,2.2 Tax losses

The Company has brought to account nil tax losses (2019: nil).

Critical accounting ludgements and estimates

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assels at each balance date. ln making lhis assessment,
the Company considers in particular its future business plans and history of generating taxable profits, whether
the unused tax losses resulted from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur and if any tax planning
opportunities exist in the period in which the taxable losses can be utilised.

5.2.3 Taxconsolidationleglslation

On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, QBE Group and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities in
the tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing and tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned
entities are required to fully compensate QBE Group for any current tax payable and are compensaied by QBE
Group for any current lax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits
that are lransferred to QBE Group under the tax consolidation legislation.

The head enti$, QBE Group, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group calculate these tax amounts
based on a notional stand-alone tax calculation as if each entity in the tax consolidated group was a stiand-alone
taxpayer in its own right. The assets and liabilities arising under the anangement are recognised as intercompany
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet of each Australian company.
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7, COMPANYSTRUCTURE

Overview

This section provides information to help users understand the Company's structure, including the impact of any
changes in the financial year.

7.1 Controlled entity

COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION CARRYING VALUE EQUITY HOLDING

2020 2019
$M$M

2020
o/o

2019
%

QBE Mortoaoe lnsurance {Asia) Limited Hono 73-5 73.5 100.0 100.0

The controlled enti$ has a 31 December year end.

How we account for the numbers

Control exists when the parent enti$ is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with an
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over it. A change in ownership of a conholled
entity without the gain or loss of control is accounted for as an equity transaction.

The investment in the controlled entity is stated at historical cost.

The investment is reviewed annually for indicators of potential impairment. Should the investment's carrying
amount exceed its eslimated recoverable amount, lhe asset would be impaired and the carrying amount would be
written down to its recoverable amount.

8. OTHER

Overview

This section includes other information that must be disclosed to comply with the Australian Accounting Standards
or lhe Corporations Act 2001.

8.t Other accountlng policies

8.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Company

The Company adopted the following new or revised accounting standards from 1 January 2O2O

TITLE

AASB 20186
AASB 2018-7
AASB 2019-1
AASB 2019-3
AASB 2019-5

Reyrsed Conceptual Framework for Financial Repofting
Delinilion of a Busrness
Definition of Mataial
References to the Conceptual Framework
lnterest Rate Benchmark Reform
Orbc/osure of the Effect of New IFRS Sfandards Nof Yet lssued in Australia

The adoption of lhe other new or revised standards detailed above did not materially affect the Company's
accounting policies or financial statements.
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8.1.2 New accounting standarda and amendments lssued but not yet effective

TITLE OPERATIVE
DATE

AASB 17 lnsurance Contracts 1 January 2023

The Australian Accounting Standards and amendments detailed in the table above are not mandatory for the
Company untilthe operative dates stated; however, early adoption is often permitted.

The Company currently plans to apply the standards and amendments detailed above in the reporting periods

beginning on their respective operative dates. An assessment of the financial impact of the standards and
amendments has been undertaken and they are not expected to have a material impact on the Company's
financial statements, except where noted below.

AASB 17 lnsurance Contracts

AASB 17, a new accounting standard for insurance contracts, was adopted by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) in July 2017. The IASB subsequently issued Amendments to IFRS 17 in June 2020
to address feedback and implementation issues raised by stakeholders, The amendments were adopted by the
AASB in July 2020 and include the deferral of the mandatory effective date to reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2A23 (previously 1 January 20211.

The Standard will be applicable to general, life and health insurance business and introduces a new'general
model'for recognition and measurement of insurance contracts, lt also permits application of a simplified model
(which is similar to the current basis on which general insurance is brought to account under AASB 1023) if lhe
liability for remaining coverage under the simplified modelwould not materially differ from the general model.

The Company has completed an initial impact assessment and additional analysis on key areas of interpretation.
The Company anticipates that the general modelwill be the most appropriate basis for measuring the liability
for remaining coverage.

This analysis also identified key requirements of AASB 17 where the technical interpretiation remains unclear.
Given the recent significant amendments to the Standard and the broad scope, complexity and lack of general
consensus on the interpretation of key components of the standard, the impact of AASB 17 on the Company's
financial statements is still being determined; however, significant disclosure changes and some impact on
reported profit or loss are expected. The Company continues to monitor market developments in order io assess
the impact of changes and evolving interpretations on the Company and to prepare financial reporting systems
for the required changes.

ln addition, recent indications from APRA regarding the impact of AASB 17 on both reporting to APRA and the
measurement of capital required by APRA are under consideration and the impacts on the Company's
implementation project are being assessed.

8.2 Contingent liabilities

Overview

Contingent liabilities are disclosed when the possibility of a future settlement is expected to result in an outflow
of resources and is considered to be less than probable but more likely than remote. lf the expected settlement
of the liability becomes probable, a provision is recognised.

ln the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to contingent liabilities in relation to claims litigation
arising out of its insurance and reinsurance transactions and may be exposed to the possibility of contingent
liabilities in relation to non-insurance litigation. Provisions are made for non-insurance obligations that are
probable and quantifi able.

45



QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANCE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEITIIENTS
Forthe yearended 31 December2O2O

2020 2019
Sltl$M

Related oarty quarantees 64.9 71.3

8.3 Reconciliation of profit after income tax to cash flows from operating actlvitles

Overvlew

AASB 1054 Australian AdditionalDisclosures requires a reconciliation of profit after income tax to eash flows
from operating activities.

2920 2019
$M$ltn

Profit after income tax
Net fair value losses (gains) on financial assets
Dividends receivable from conlrolled entity
lncrease in gross outstanding claims
Decrease in unearned premiums
lncrease in unearned reinsurance commission
lncrease in deferred insurance costs
lncrease in reinsurance and other recoveries
lncrease in trade and other receivables
lncrease (decrease) in trade and other payables
(lncrease) decrease in defened tax assets
Decrease in amounts due to parent entity or
tax authorities for current tax (13.4) (4.2)

45.4 14.7Cash flows from operating activities

8.4 Key management personnel

Overview

AASB 124 Related Parly Disctosures requires disclosure of the compensation of direciors (executive and non-
executive) and those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the Company, either directly or indirectly. This group of people are collectively defined as key
management personnel.

Remuneration of executive directors and other executives is paid by a related Company. \Mere this
remuneration is recharged on a time proportional basis it is disclosed below, along with an appropriate allocation
of fees paid to independent non-executive directors by QBE Group companies for services provided to the
Company. \Mrere the Company also receives management services from lhe related Company which includes
the provision of key management personnel, these services are not recharged on a time proportional basis and
are excluded from the disclosure below. They are included in an overall management fee from the related
Company, as detailed in note 8.6.2.

16.4
14.1

{6.3}
112.2

(5.2)
9.8

(30.4)
(55.8)

{2.s|
7.7

(0.81

86.4
(12.0)

(6.5)
24.6

(36.5)
8.9

(24,8)
(12.51

(1.3)
(8.3)
0.9

2020
$'000

20{9
s'000

Short-term employment benefi ts
Post-emolovment benefits

29
3

35
3

38 32

How we accounl for the numbers

Short-term employee benefits - profit sharing and bonus plans

A provision is recognised for profit sharing and bonus plans where there is acontraclual obligation or where
past practice has created a constructive obligation at the end of each reporting period. Bonus or profit sharing
obligations are settled within 12 months from the balance date.
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Post-employment benefits - defined contributlon plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which an entity pays afixed contribution
into a fund during the course of employment and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay allemployee benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods. Contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred.

Short-term and post-employment benefits are accounted for and paid by a related company. The related
expense is recharged to the Company as part of the overall management fee.

8.5 Remuneration of auditors

Overview

The Company may engage the external auditor for non-audit services other than excluded services subject to
the general principle that fees for non-audit services should not exceed 50o/o af all fees paid to the external
auditor in any one financial year at the ultimate parent entity level. The Board believes some non-audit services
are appropriate given the external audito/s knowledge of the Gompany. External tax services are generally
provided by an accounting firm other than the external auditor. Gonsistentwith prior periods, the external auditor
cannot provide lhe excluded services of preparing accounting records or financial reports or acting in a
management capacity.

2420 2019

Audit of financial reports of the Company
Audit of statutorv returns and other assurance services

587
162

555
162

749 7',t7

8.6 Related parties

8.6.1 Parent entity

The parent entity is QBE Holdings (AAP) Pty Limited and the ultimate parent entity is QBE lnsurance Group
Limited.

8.6.2 Transactions with related parties

The following materialtransactions occurred with related parties:

202A
$'000

2019
$'000

Revenue
Management fees received from controlled entity
Reinsurance commission received from related entig
Reinsurance recoveries from relaled entity

715
28,927
71,722

778
21,409
38,588

Expenses
Management fees paid to related entity
Reinsurance premium paid {refunded) to related entitv

31,O28
106.340

36,838
82,545

Other transactions
Dividends received or receivable from controlled entity
Dividends paid or oroposed to parent

0,307
177,404

6,538
't13,000

Remuneration of key management is disclosed in note 8.4,
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For the year ended 31 December 202A

8.6.3 Outstanding balances arising from transactlons with related parties

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:

2019
s'000 $'000

Current assets
Reinsurance receivables from related entity on paid claims
Reinsurance recoveries from related entity on outstanding claims
Loan to related entity
Olher amounts due from related entities 1

6,267
104,875
80,016

6,617

6,903
61,619
60,006

6,390

Non-current assets
lnvestment in controlled entitv 73,504 73,504

Current liabilitiee
Amounts due to related entities 12,775 17,925

Contlngent liabilities
Guarantee in respect of controlled entitv 64.900 71,300
I A prior period casting error was identified in relation to other amounts due fiom related parties, this has been
corrected in the current period.

How we account for the numbers

Alltransactions were made on normal commercialterms and conditions and at market rates.

Outstanding balances are unsecured.

The Company entered into a tax sharing and tax funding agreement with QBE Group and its wholly-owned
Australian controlled entities, refer to note 6.2.3.

8,7 Events occurring after reporting date

There is, at the date of this report, no other matter or circumstance that has arisen since 31 December 2020
that, in the opinion of the directors, has significantly affected or may significanlly affect the Company's
operations, the results of those operations, or the Company's state of affairs in future financial periods.
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QBE LENDERS' MORTGAGE INSURANGE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

ln the directors' opinion:

{a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 5 to 48 are in accordance with the Corparations Act 20A1,
including:

(i) complying with accounting standards, the Corporations Regulations 20A1 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements; and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of its
performance for lhe financial year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

Note 1.2.1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the lnternationalAccounting Standards Board.

Signed in SYDNEY, this 12th day of February 2021 in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Director... Director

fd*r..lx CoSt t e-lfl6 r.$,lon)
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Independent auditor's rep ort
To the members of QBE Lenders'Mortgage Insurance Limited

Our opinion
In our opinion:

The accompanying financial report of QBE Lenders'Mortgage Insurance Limited (the Company) is in
accordance with the Corporations Act zoo7, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 31 December zozo and of its
financial performance for the year then ended

(b) compllng with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations zoor.

Whalwehqaesudited
The financial report comprises:

r the balance sheet as at 3r December 2o2o
o the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended

o the statement ofchanges in equityforthe yearthen ended

r the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

. the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies

r thedirectors'declaration.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards; Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in theAuditor's r'esponsibilitiesfor the sudit of thefinancialreport section of
our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufiicient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act zooT and the ethical requirements ofthe Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards
Board's APES tto Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report for the year ended 3r December zozo, but does not include the financial report
and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

PricetasterhouseCoopers, ABN gz 78o 4SS 757
One InternationalTowers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 265o, SYDNEY NSW zoot
T: +6t z 8266 oooo, F: +6t z 8266 9999,tDtDtt).pwc.com.au
Leuel rr, IPSQ, t69 Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW zt5o, PO Box tt55 Parramattq NSW 2124
T: +6t z 9659 2476, F: +6r z 8266 9999,uDw.pwc.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 50
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In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the dtrectors for the financial report

The directors ofthe Company are responsible for the preparation ofthe financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2oo1 and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability ofthe Company to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level ofassurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This
description forms part of our auditor's report.

-lr,*,*n 
'^,*C*f'4PricewaterhouseCoopers

c"W
Christopher Verhaeghe
Partner

Sydney
rz February zozr.
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